Zri ke

UNITED LAGUNA WOODS

MUTUAIL

OPEN MEETING

REGULAR MEETING OF THE UNITED LAGUNA WOODS MUTUAL
GOVERNING DOCUMENTS REVIEW COMMITTEE

Thursday, August 15, 2024 — 1:30 P.M.
Board Room/Virtual Meeting
Laguna Woods Village Community Center

AGENDA NOTICE
1. Call to Order Maggie Blackwell
2. Approval of Agenda Maggie Blackwell
3. Approval of Reports: Maggie Blackwell
a. June 20, 2024
4. Chair's Remarks Maggie Blackwell

5. Member Comments - At this time Only United Members may address the
Committee regarding items not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of this
Committee. The Committee reserves the right to limit the total amount of time
allotted for Member Comments to thirty-minutes. Each individual has no longer
than three-minutes. A Member may speak only once during the Member
Comments. Speakers may not give their time to other people, no audio or video
recording by attendees and no rude or threatening comments.

Laguna Woods Village owner/residents are welcome to participate in committee
meetings and submit comments or questions regarding virtual committee
meetings using one of two options:

a. Via email to meeting@vmsinc.org any time before the meeting is
scheduled to begin or during the meeting. Please use the name of the
committee in the subject line of the email. Name and manor number must
be included.

b. Join the Committee meeting via Zoom at:
https://us06web.zoom.us/|[/99710468599 or by dialing 669-900-6833 /
Access Code: 997 1046 8599

Items for Discussion and Consideration
6. Membership Election & Voting Policy Maggie Blackwell

Concluding Business:
7. Committee Member Comments



mailto:meeting@vmsinc.org
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/99710468599

United Laguna Woods Mutual August 15, 2024
Governing Documents Review Committee
Page 2 of 2

8. Future Agenda ltems — All matters listed under Future Agenda ltems are items
for a future Committee meeting. No action will be taken by the Committee on
these agenda items at this meeting.

a. None

9. Next Meeting Date: Thursday- September 19, 2024

10.Adjournment

*A quorum of the United Board, or more, may be present at the meeting.
Maggie Blackwell, Chair

Francis Gomez, Staff Officer
(949) 268-4207



UL

OPEN MEETING

REGULAR MEETING OF THE UNITED LAGUNA WOODS MUTUAL
GOVERNING DOCUMENTS REVIEW COMMITTEE

Thursday, June 20, 2024 — 1:30 p.m.
BOARD ROOM/VVIRTUAL MEETING
Laguna Woods Village Community Center
24351 Ef Toro Road, Laguna Woods, CA 92637

MEMBERS PRESENT:  Maggie Blackwell — Chair and Pearl Lee (Alternate)
MEMBERS ABSENT: Nancy Carlson and Anthony Liberatore
ADVISORS PRESENT:  Dick Rader and Juanita Skillman (via Zoom)
ADVISORS ABSENT: None
STAFF PRESENT: Francis Gomez, Jeff Spies and Ruby Rojas

1. CALL TO ORDER
Maggie Blackwell, Chair, called the meeting to order at 1:32 p.m.

2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA
The Committee reviewed the agenda.

By unanimous consent, the agenda was approved as presented.

3. APPROVAL OF REPORTS
The Committee reviewed the report for May 16, 2024.

Without objection, the report for May 16, 2024 was approved as presented.

4. CHAIR’S REMARKS
None.

5. MEMBER COMMENTS
None.

Agenda Item 3a
Page 1 of 2



United Laguna Woods Mutual Jdune 20, 2024
Governing Documents Review Committee

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION

6. Passive Home Business Policy

Mr. Jeff Spies, Community Services Manager, presented the Passive Home Business
Policy for the Committee to consider and review. The Committee discussed the matter.

Chair Blackwell made a motion to approve the Passive Home Business Policy as
presented and forward for board consideration. Director Lee seconded the motion.

By unanimous consent, the motion passed.
Mr. Spies left the meeting at 1:37 p.m.

7. Membership Election & Voting Policy

Ms. Francis Gomez, Operations Manager, presented the Membership Election & Voting
Policy, specifically regarding Term Limits for the Committee to consider and review. The
Committee discussed the matter.

Chair Blackwell made a motion to reaffirm the Membership Election & Voting Policy as is
in the current policy. Director Lee seconded the motion.

By unanimous consent, the motion passed.

8. Operating Rules Guidebook
Ms. Gomez presented the Operating Rules Guidebook for the Committee to consider
and review. The Committee discussed the matter.

Chair Blackwell made a motion to approve the Operating Rules Guidebook as presented
and direct staff to continue in the manner that it was presented. Director Lee seconded

the motion.

By unanimous consent, the motion passed.

Concluding Business
9. Committee Member Comments

Director Lee expressed her gratitude to serve as alternate at the meeting to satisfy a
quorum.

10.Future Agenda Items
a. None.

11. Date of Next Meeting
The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, July 18, 2024 at 1:30 p.m. in the Board Room.

12. Adjournment
With no further business, Chair Blackwell adjourned the meeting at 1:46 p.m.

MR Hocburs//

Maggie Blackwell, Chair ~ Agenda ltem 3a
Page 2 of 2




UNITED LAGUNA WOODS

MUTUAIL

MEMBERSHIP ELECTION & VOTING POLICY

e Adopted May 14, 2013, Resolution 01-13-90
e Revised March 10, 2015, Resolution 01-15-33
e Revised September 13, 2016, Resolution 01-16-97
e Revised January 9, 2020, Resolution 01-20-26
e Revised June 14, 2022, Resolution 01-22-40
Definitions
a. “Corporation” shall refer to the United Laguna Woods Mutual Corporation.
b. “Election Records” shall include returned ballots, signed voter envelopes, the

Candidate Registration List and the Voter List. The Candidate Registration
List means the list of qualified candidates existing as of the close of
nominations. The Voter List may include: the name, voting power and either
the physical address of the Member’s separate interest or the parcel number,
or both; and the mailing address of the Member (if different from the physical
address or if the parcel number is used).

“Secretary” shall mean an elected member of the Board of Directors who has
been elected as a Corporate officer as Secretary.

. “Authorized Agent” shall refer to a staff member appointed by the Board of

Directors.

“Inspector(s) of Elections” shall refer to an independent third party appointed
by the Board of Directors to perform duties and acts to facilitate voting and
elections as set forth herein.

“SOP” shall mean and refer to this policy, known as the Membership Elections
Policy.

. “Submit” shall refer to delivery of a document to the Authorized Agent at the

Corporate address: 24351 El Toro Road, Laguna Woods, California.

. “Qualified Member” shall mean a member qualified to nominate himself or

herself as a candidate for the Board of Directors as set forth herein.

Nomination Process

a.

Qualifications. Only “Qualified Members” are eligible for candidacy to the
Board. All candidates seeking to run in any Election of Directors shall meet
the following criteria in order to be considered a Qualified Member for
purposes of this SOP:

i. Shall be Members of record as defined under Bylaws, Article Il,
Section 4(h).

ii. Shall not be shown on the books of account of the Corporation to be
more than thirty (30) days delinquent in payment of any sums due to
the Corporation under his or her Occupancy Agreement or otherwise,
and who has been given notice thereof and the opportunity for a
hearing concerning the delinquency (Bylaws, Article VI Section 2(b)).
Note, this does not include non-payment of collection charges, late
charges, fines, fines renamed as assessments, costs levied by a third
party, or if the Member has (1) paid under protest per California Civil
Code § 5658; (2) has entered into and is current in a payment plan
(defined as a signed written agreement between the Board and the

Agenda Item 6
Page 1 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy
Page 2 of 11

Owner) per § 5665, and is current and in compliance will all terms
thereof; or (3) if the Member has not been provided the opportunity to
engage in Internal Dispute Resolution (“IDR”).

iii. While a candidate for the Board and during their term as a Director, if
elected, the Candidate must have been a member of United for at least
one (1) year.

iv. Candidates and Directors shall not have been convicted of a crime that
would either prevent the Corporation from purchasing fidelity bond
coverage or terminate the Corporation’s existing coverage.

v. Members may not serve at the same time as another person who
holds joint ownership in the same separate interest who is either
already nominated or an incumbent director.

vi. Term Limits. A Director who resigns or is removed, or a Director who
will have served two successive full terms, may not again be a Director
until the expiration of twelve (12) months after ceasing to be a Director.

b. In addition to the foregoing qualifications, the Board strongly discourages
Members from running for the Board where the candidate or the candidate’s
spouse has a conflict of interest with the Corporation, financial or otherwise,
or engages in business transactions with the Corporation. Further, such
conflicts must be immediately disclosed to the Board of Directors upon its
occurrence pursuant to United’s Bylaws.

c. Any Member may nominate any Qualified Member as a candidate, including
himself or herself, by submitting a written application and candidate statement
to the Secretary or Authorized Agent of the Corporation that states his or her
intention to run for the Board of Directors which must be returned to the
Secretary by the closing date stated, which deadline must be at least ninety
(90) days before the date the ballots for the election of directors are
scheduled to be tabulated. No nominations for the Board can be made after
the closing date.

d. Any committee established by the Board to assist the Board shall submit a
final report of all candidates to the Board upon the close of nominations.

e. Each candidate shall submit to the Secretary or Authorized Agent a statement
of background and qualifications not to exceed two hundred fifty (250) words
in length by the closing deadline.

i. The following are guidelines for the preparation of the statement of
candidate’s background and qualifications:

1. The statement may include: education, business background,
civic, social, and community activities;

2. “Activities” may include organized events, clubs, hobbies or any
unique activity;

3. Date and place of birth shall be considered optional information
Length of residency in United; and

4. Statement of personal philosophy (optional).

f. Each candidate for a Director position is responsible to directly forward their
candidate statement, electronically, to the Inspector of Election and Corporate
Secretary and is solely responsible to ensure the accuracy of the information
and transmission of the candidate’s statement. Once the candidate’s
statement is submitted, as set forth herein, it is irrevocable and cannot be
changed or modified. United is not responsible for the content of any
candidacy statement.

Agenda Item 6
Page 2 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy
Page 3 of 11

g. Any candidate or spouse of a candidate who has a direct or indirect financial
interest in any business organization or who is a director, officer or employee
of any business, or agency of any county, state or federal government (other
than a charitable organization), incorporated or otherwise, which engages in
business transactions with the Corporation, shall disclose such relationship to
the Board of Directors at the time of their self-nomination.

h. Candidates must disclose the fact that they have significant outside, time-
consuming commitments such as: (a) full time or significant employment
responsibilities; (b) full time or significant time commitments to care for
others; or (c) extensive travel plans which could impact the time available to
conduct Board Business (Bylaws, Art. VIII Sec. 3(e)).

i. The candidates receiving the highest number of votes, up to the number of
directors to be elected, shall be elected as directors and shall take office
immediately following their election. Any tie vote shall be broken by lot, which
may include any method of randomly deciding the issue as adopted by the
Board.

3. Eligibility to Vote

a. Only persons approved for Membership by the Board of Directors and to
whom a membership certificate has been issued (or the Member’s successor
trustee and/or power of attorney (California Civil Code § 5105(g)(2).)) shall be
entitled to vote (see Bylaws, Article Il Section 4(h)- (i)). This provision shall
not be construed to prohibit any Member from receiving a ballot, pursuant to
California Civil Code § 5105(g)(1).

b. Single Memberships in which two or more Members have a joint or undivided
interest shall have only one (1) vote (Bylaws, Article V, Section 8(a)(ii)) and
only one such Member may run for, and serve on, the Board at any one time.

c. Record Date:

i. The record date for determining those Members entitled to receive
Notice of a meeting of the Members shall be fifteen (15) days prior to
the day that the notice of the meeting is mailed (the “Record Date for
Notice”);

ii. The record date for determining those Members entitled to vote by
secret ballot shall be sixty (60) days prior to the day that the secret
ballots are mailed (the “Record Date for Secret Ballots”);

d. The inspector(s) of elections shall tabulate the ballots for the election of
directors at the Annual Meeting of the Members. The ballots for the vote to
approve assessments, elections of directors to fill a vacancy not filled by the
Board, amendments to governing documents and/or granting the exclusive
use of common area to a Member (unless an exception applies per Civil
Code § 4600) shall be tabulated by the inspector(s) of election at a duly
noticed (regular or special) meeting of the Members or Board. The Board of
Directors shall determine the date, time and place of said Board meeting.

4. Notice Requirements (Senate Bill 323)
a. General notice of the procedure and deadline for submitting a nomination shall
be issued at least 30 days before the nomination deadline (unless individual
notice has been requested by the Member).

Agenda Item 6
Page 3 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy
Page 4 of 11

b. General notice of the following shall be made at least 30 days before ballots
are distributed (unless individual notice has been requested by the Member):

i. The date and time by which, and address where, ballots are to be returned;
i. The date, time and location of the meeting to tabulate the ballots; and
iii. The list of all candidates’ names that will appear on the ballot.

c. United shall permit Members to verify the accuracy of their individual
information contained in the Election Records at least thirty (30) days before
the ballots are distributed. United or any Member shall report any errors or
omissions for either list to the inspectors of election who shall make the
corrections within two (2) business days.

d. At least thirty (30) days before the election, the inspectors of election will
deliver to each Member: (1) the ballot and voting instructions; and (2) a copy of
the election rules. Note, the election rules may be provided by individual
delivery or by posting same on an internet site and providing the
corresponding internet site web address on the ballot with the phrase, in at
least 12-point font: “The rules governing this election may be found here:
https://www.lagunawoodsvillage.com/residents/united-laguna-woods-
mutual/documents.”

5. Candidate Equal Access to Corporation Media

a. All candidates for a Director position shall have equal access to Corporation
media for the purpose of campaigning for an election. For purposes of this
paragraph, “Corporation media” means the Corporation’s cable channel. No
candidate may utilize Corporation media for the thirty (30) day period
following the date the first election ballot material is sent to the membership
for the election of the Board of Directors through the election date, even if
for a period longer than thirty (30) days.

b. In each election for the Board of Directors, the Corporation shall hold a forum
(“Meet the Candidates”) for the nominees within a Golden Rain Foundation
(GREF) facility prior to the date that the ballot materials are sent to the
Membership. Meet the Candidates will be for the purpose of allowing the
Membership to meet and ask questions of all nominees. All nominees standing
for election shall be invited to attend the forum and should appear in person.

c. Golden Rain Foundation (GRF) meeting rooms shall be available to
candidates free of charge for campaign purposes (California Civil Code §
5105(a)(2).).

d. Any time a ballot measure is required to be sent to the Membership for
approval which is unrelated to the election of directors, such as amending the
Bylaws or the Occupancy Agreement, the Corporation may hold a town hall
meeting — rather than a formal membership meeting — which is an informal
gathering of members in which members can express their points of view.
Further, if Corporation media is used in connection with such ballot measures,
any Member advocating a point of view shall be permitted use of Corporation
media, provided the Member’s purposes reasonably relate to the ballot
measure. The Corporation shall not edit any such communications made by
Members, but may include a statement specifying that the Member, and not
United, is responsible for that content.

Agenda Item 6
Page 4 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy

Page 5 of 11

6. Appointment of Inspectors of Election
a. The Board of Directors shall appoint one (1) or three (3) independent third
party(ies) as Inspector(s) of Election. An independent third party includes, but
is not limited to:

i.

ii.
ii.
iv.

A volunteer poll worker with the county registrar of voters;

A licensee of the California Board of Accountancy;

A notary public; and

A Member of the Corporation provided such Member is not a member
of the Board of Directors or a candidate for the Board of Directors or
related to a member of the Board of Directors or a candidate for the
Board of Directors.

b. Inspectors of Election shall not be employees of management; however, prior
to the secret ballots being mailed to all of the Members, the inspectors of
election may meet to determine to whom the secret ballots shall be returned
(the “Ballot Collector”), which may be an Authorized Agent.

c. An Inspector or Inspectors may appoint and oversee additional persons to
assist as the Inspector or Inspectors deem appropriate. (California Civil Code
§ 5105 (a)(6))

7. Duties of Inspectors of Election
a. Determine the number of memberships entitled to vote and the voting power
of each membership. (California Civil Code § 5110(c)(1)

Eligible Voter List:

Pursuant to Section 4 of this SOP, the Inspectors will create or cause
to be created an Eligible Voter List that identifies all Members who are
eligible to vote. This list will be used to mail ballots only to those
Members entitled to vote by ballot on corporate action without a
meeting as of the Record Date specified herein.

b. Determine when the polls shall close. (California Civil Code § 5110(c)(6).)

The Inspectors of Election shall determine the date that ballots must be
received in accordance with California Civil Code § 5115(a).), which
states “Ballots...shall be mailed not less than 30 days prior to the
deadline for voting.” The deadline shall be incorporated into the voter
instructions and adopted by the Board of Directors in the form of a
resolution.

c. Oversee the Mailing of the Ballot Package

Obtain certification from the preparer of the ballot packages that all
necessary items were enclosed in each Ballot Package Mailing
Envelope and that the envelopes were properly addressed to all
members on the Eligible Voter list.

ii. Ensure that Ballot Package Mailing Envelopes are sent by first class

mail to help ensure that all members receive ballots in a timely
manner.

iii. Obtain a statement from the post office indicating the number of ballot

packages mailed.
the inspector of election must deliver, or cause to be individually
delivered to each member, at least 30 days before an election, both the
ballots and either a copy of the election rules or a statement in 12-point
font that reads, "the rules governing this election may be found here
{insert web address}."

Agenda Item 6

Page 5 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy

Page 6 of 11

d. Receive ballots. (California Civil Code § 5110(c)(3).)

Secret Ballot Return Instructions

If authorized by the California Legislature, the Corporation may utilize electronic

“Secret Ballots.’

* Such procedure will be consistent with what is required in the

California Civil Code. For paper Secret Ballots, the following shall apply:

a. The Secret Ballot itself is not signed by the voter, but is inserted into the
Secret Ballot Envelope, which is sealed. The Secret Ballot Envelope shall not
have any identifiable markings and is then inserted into the Pre-Addressed
Return Envelope, which is also sealed.

b. In the upper left-hand corner of the Pre-Addressed Return Envelope, the
voter shall both print and sign his or her name, address, and the unit number
that entitles him or her to vote (California Civil Code § 5115(a)(1).).

c. The Pre-Addressed Return Envelope is addressed to the Inspector or
Inspectors of Election, who will tally the votes. The envelope may be mailed
or delivered by hand to a location specified by the Inspector or Inspectors of
Election. The member may request a receipt for delivery (California Civil Code
§ 5115(a)(2).).

i. Return by Mail

1.

The Pre-Addressed Return Envelope shall be returned on or
before the deadline date by mail to the address of the Inspector
of Election c/o Ballot Collector as set forth in the voting or ballot
return instructions or on the secret ballot.

2. A second post office box may be used for Secret Ballot
packages returned as undeliverable.

. Members who desire a receipt for delivery of a mailed Secret

Ballot shall mail the Secret Ballot by Certified Delivery — Return
Receipt Requested at the Member’'s expense.

ii. Return by Hand Delivery

1.

Secret Ballots returned by hand shall be deposited by the
Member into a locked and secure ballot box located in the lobby
of the Community Center, 24351 El Toro Road, Laguna
Woods.

. At the request of the voting Member, the Authorized Agent,

which may be management, shall provide a receipt for the hand
delivered Secret Ballot.

. Inspectors shall retrieve Pre-Addressed Envelopes from the

locked ballot box daily and date stamp them.

. Secret Ballots may also be hand delivered to the Inspector of

Elections at the meeting to tabulate the ballots prior to the close
of polls.

All Pre-addressed Return Envelopes received shall remain
sealed until they are opened and tabulated in public. The
Corporation shall reserve a secure room at the Community
Center (24351 El Toro Road, Laguna Woods) for use by the
Inspector(s) of Election. Notwithstanding, the Inspector(s) of
Election may establish a physical boundary or buffer around
them during the tabulation of ballots.

Agenda Item 6
Page 6 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy

Page 7 of 11

Ballot Return Instructions — The Ballot Return Instructions will be the
same as the Secret Ballot Instructions, detailed herein above, with the
exception that the Ballot will be inserted into the Pre- Addressed
Return Envelope only inasmuch as non-Secret Ballots do not require
the use of a double envelope system so the Secret Ballot Envelope will
not be utilized.

d. Determine the authenticity, validity, and effect of proxies, if any.
e. Verify voter eligibility.

Vi.

Vii.
viii.

Count and record the number of Pre-addressed Return Envelopes
received from the post office.

Count and record the number of Pre-addressed Return Envelopes
received by hand delivery.

Place the Pre-addressed Return Envelopes in order by address, which
corresponds with the Eligible Voter List. This process may be
automated (i.e., barcodes).

. Void (but do not open) any Pre-addressed Return Envelopes, which

does not contain information that identifies the member as an eligible
voter (see Section 8.c.i.1 above).

Void (but do not open) any Pre-addressed Return Envelope that is a
duplicate vote.

1. Revocation. No written ballot may be revoked after deposit in
the mails or delivery to the Corporation (Bylaws, Article V,
Section 9(e)).

2. If a voter returns two Pre-addressed Return Envelopes, the
Inspectors of Election shall determine which ballot to count. If it
can be determined which is the first Pre-addressed Return
Envelope sent or received, then it shall be deemed the original
ballot, which shall be counted and the other Pre-addressed
Return Envelope should be voided.

Resolve any challenged ballots. If possible, this should be done before
any Pre-Addressed Return Envelope is opened and counting begins.
Explain the reason for each voter eligibility decision made.

The sealed ballots at all times shall be in the custody of the Inspector
or Inspectors of Election or at a location designated by the Inspector or
Inspectors of Election until after the tabulation of the vote, at which
time the Inspector of Election can maintain custody of the Election
Record pursuant to statute, or transfer custody shall be transferred to
the Corporation (California Civil Code § 5125(a).).

f. Count and tabulate the votes.

All votes shall be counted and tabulated by the Inspector or Inspectors
of Election in public at a properly noticed open meeting of the Board of
Directors (California Civil Code § 5120(a).).

At a properly noticed open meeting of the Board of Directors, the seals
of the Secret Ballot Envelopes shall be broken, and the Inspector(s) of
Election shall prepare the ballots for tabulation, which may include
electronic tabulation scanning. A third-party election services
contractor who is not an inspector of election may be deputized by the
Inspectors of Election to assist with the preparation and scanning of
the ballots.

Agenda Item 6
Page 7 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy

Page 8 of 11

A ballot shall be voided if it contains information identifying the voter
(California Civil Code § 5115(a).).

g. Determine the result of the election

Once the ballots are scanned and tabulated, the Inspector(s) of
Election shall certify the election by signing an official form. The
tabulated results of the election shall be promptly reported to the Board
and shall be recorded in the minutes of the next meeting of the Board
and shall be available for review by members of the Corporation.

. Within fifteen days of the election, the Board of Directors shall publicize

the results of the election.

. Tabulated ballots shall be packed and sealed, and the Inspectors of

Election shall initial the seal to ensure that there is no tampering with
the tabulated ballots.

The custody of the tabulated ballots and other Election Records as
listed in Section 1.b of this SOP shall remain in the custody of the
Inspector(s) of Election for not less than one (1) year after the
tabulation of ballots, or until the time allowed by Civil Code Section
5145 for challenging the election has otherwise expired. Upon written
request, Election Records shall be made available for inspection and
review by Members or their authorized representatives. Any recount
shall be conducted in a manner that shall preserve the confidentiality of
the vote.

After the tabulation of ballots, the Board of Directors or its Authorized
Agent (i.e., management) shall return to the post office to pick up any
ballots received after the deadline. These ballots shall not be opened
and shall be marked “Void — received after deadline”.

9. Election Mailing Materials

a. The Corporation shall conduct its election consistent with its Bylaws and state
statutes (Bylaws, Article V, Section 8(b)). The official election materials are to
be prepared by the Inspector(s) of Election.

b. As prescribed by law, secret ballot procedures shall be used when voting on
the following issues: assessment increases; election and removal of directors;
amendments to the Governing Documents (i.e., Articles of Incorporation,
Bylaws and Occupancy Agreement); and the grant of exclusive use of
Common Area property.

A “secret ballot” is a ballot which does not identify the voter by name,
address, lot, unit or parcel number. The term “secret ballot” does not
include a ballot for purposes of voting on any matter other than
assessments, election or removal of directors, amendments to the
Governing Documents or the grant of exclusive use of Common Area
property. All secret ballots, including for election of directors, must
conform to the requirements of applicable law. Any Bylaws provision
inconsistent with the law shall be void.

All secret ballots shall provide a reasonable time within which to return
the ballot to the Corporation, which may be set at the discretion of the
Board unless otherwise required by law. Thetime for the return of
secret ballots may be extended for reasonable intervals at the
discretion of the Board.

Agenda Item 6
Page 8 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy

Page 9 of 11

Any action requiring Member approval, other than those requiring a
secret ballot, may be submitted for vote by written ballot without calling
a meeting of the Members. The written ballot shall describe the
proposed action(s), provide an opportunity to specify approval or
disapproval of each proposal, and provide a reasonable time within
which to return the ballot to the Corporation as set forth in Article V,
Section 9 of the Bylaws.

1. The determination to conduct a vote by written ballot shall be
made by the Board or by members having 20% of the eligible
voting power signing a written request and delivering same to
any Corporation officer (Bylaws, Article V, Section 9(c)).

2. The officer shall thereupon distribute a written ballot to every
Member eligible to vote on the matter. A written ballot may not
be revoked.

3. All solicitations shall indicate the number of responses needed
to meet the quorum requirement and the percentage of
approvals needed to approve each proposal. The solicitation
must specify the time by which the ballot must be received in
order to be counted.

4. Written ballots and solicitations shall be distributed in the same
manner as notice of Member meetings. Approval by written
ballot shall be valid only when the number of eligible ballots
received meets the quorum required at a meeting authorizing
the action, and the number of approvals equals or exceeds the
number of votes that would be required to approve at a meeting
at which the total number of votes cast was the same as the
number of votes cast by ballot. Upon tabulation of the ballots,
the Board shall promptly notify the Members of the outcome of
the vote or failure to meet quorum.

c. Should state statute allow for electronic voting for those votes which
previously required paper Secret Ballots, as referenced herein and in the
state statute, then the Corporation may utilize such electronic system
consistent with those Rules and Regulations, so long as the electronic voting
is consistent with the terms of the applicable and statutory requirements.

To the extent permitted by law, in the event the number of candidates at the
close of nominations is not more than the number of open positions on the
Board, those candidates shall be considered elected by acclamation, without
further action, and the results shall be announced as required by these Rules
and law, provided the following are true:

d.

The Corporation has provided individual notice of the election and the
procedure for nominating candidates at least thirty (30) days before the
close of nominations; and

The Corporation has permitted all candidates to run if nominated,
except if the candidate is disqualified, pursuant to this Policy.

10. Secret Ballots: Removal of Directors by the Membership

a. The Members may remove directors by at least a majority of the votes
represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present, in accordance with
California Corporations Code Section 7222 and the following procedures:

Agenda Item 6
Page 9 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy
Page 10 of 11

i. A petition must be presented, in person, to the President or Secretary
of the Corporation, bearing the signatures of Members in good
standing who represent at least five percent (5%) of the eligible voting
power of the Corporation. The signature and address or Unit number of
each petitioner in his or her own handwriting; the name(s) of the
sponsor(s) of the petition; and fulfill all other legal requirements.

ii. Within twenty (20) days after receipt of such petition, the President,
Secretary, or Board shall either call a special meeting or distribute
secret ballots to the Members to vote upon the requested recall. Such
meeting or vote by secret ballot shall be conducted not less than thirty-
five (35) nor more than ninety (90) days after the petition is presented.

iii. The director(s) whose removal is being sought shall have the right to
rebut the allegations contained in the petition orally, in writing or both.
Any written rebuttal shall be mailed by the Corporation or otherwise
provided to all Members, together with the recall ballot.

iv. If the quorum requirement for a valid membership action is not satisfied
or if the recall vote results in a tie, the removal action will have failed.

v. In the event the recall vote is successful, any vacancy must be filled by
a vote of the Members following the nomination and election
procedures set forth in this SOP, except that nominations to fill a
vacancy shall close thirty (30) days before the date of special meeting
to elect a director(s) to fill a vacancy(ies). Notice of the special meeting
and secret ballots to elect directors to fill any vacancy created by the
removal of one or more directors must be sent to Members not less
than thirty (30) days before the deadline for voting. The successor
director shall serve for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor.

11.  Secret Ballots: Amendments to Governing Documents
a. Votes to amend the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, Occupancy Agreement
or any other governing documents of the Corporation (“Governing
Documents”) requiring a vote of the Members, shall be done by secret ballot
pursuant to the SOP. Secret ballots enclosing the text of the proposed
amendment must be delivered to every Member not less than thirty (30) days
prior to the deadline for voting.

12. Secret Ballots: Grant of Exclusive Use of Common Area
a. The affirmative vote of at least sixty-seven present (67%) of Members secret
ballot pursuant to the procedures set forth herein is required before the Board
may grant exclusive use of any portion of the Common Area to a Member,
unless the grant of exclusive use of Common Area meets an exception
provided by California Civil Code § 4600(b), or any superseding statute,
which includes, but is not limited to any grant of exclusive use that is for any
of the following reasons:
i. To eliminate or correct engineering errors in documents recorded with
the county recorder or on file with a public agency or utility company;
ii. To eliminate or correct encroachments due to errors in construction of
any improvements;

Agenda Item 6
Page 10 of 11



United Laguna Woods Village
Membership Election & Voting Policy
Page 11 of 11

iii. To permit changes in the plan of development submitted to the
Real Estate Commissioner in circumstances where the changes
are the result of topography, obstruction, hardship, aesthetic
considerations, or environmental conditions;

iv. To fulfill the requirement of a public agency;

v. To transfer the burden of management and maintenance of any
Common Area that is generally inaccessible and not of general
use to the membership at large;

vi. To accommodate a disability;

vii. To install and use an electric vehicle charging station in a garage
or a designated parking space that meets the requirements of
California Civil Code § 4745, where the installation or use of the
charging station requires reasonable access through, or across,
the common area for utility lines or meters;

viii. To install and use an electric vehicle charging station through a
license granted by an association under California Civil Code §
4745; or

iXx. To comply with governing law.

b. Any measure placed before the members requesting that the Board grant
exclusive use of any portion of the Common Area shall specify whether
the Corporation will receive any monetary consideration for the grant and
whether the Corporation or the transferee will be responsible for providing
any insurance coverage for exclusive use of the Common Area.

Agenda Item 6
Page 11 of 11





